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To: Mary Beth deBeau; Jeff Jordan 
Ce: Mike Pitts; Tina Truett _ . --j 
Subject: Michael David Pitts ®'7'Ji32__ f' 
Attachments: 16-0303 Plea Agreemehf"(signed).pdf; MUggfeAFEC Itr Pitts.pdf 

Dear Mr. Jordan, 

Please see attached your letter dated September 8,2016. Immediately, I apologize for the delay in this 
response. Please know that I represent Mr. Pitts in charges currently pending in the United States District Court for 
the Middle District of Louisiana, specifically docket number 16-CR-16-JWD-RLB. 

My impression is that this prosecution is directed at conduct that is related to the claim of your office. Mr. Pitts has 
fully cooperated in this investigation and prosecution and likewise intends to cooperate with your office. 

Mr. Pitts accepted all criminal responsibility in the matter as evidenced by the attached plea agreement. Mr. Pitts 
awaits sentencing which is currently set for October 12, 2016. 

Your attention is brought to Page 3, Section B of the Plea Agreement that states as follows: 

B. UNITED STATES' OBLIGATIONS 
1. Non-orcsecution of. Charges 

The United States agrees that, if the Court accepts the defendant's guilty plea, it will not prosecute 
the defendant for any offenses related to the offense charged In the Bill of Information. 

Please also know that Mr. Pitts has exhausted his assets in his efforts to make restitution and to satisfy the related 
forfeiture proceeding, to which he also conceded. He has made considerable measures of restitution, specifically, he 
has paid back more than half of the amount in question by selling his home, vehicle, divesting of all liquid assets, 
surrendering cash basis of life insurance policies, amongst other measures. 

This a summary, initial response. Your consideration of this information is greatly appreciated. If I may answer any 
questions for you, I will be happy to do so. 

Sincerely, 
Fred Crifasi 

FRED T. CRIFASI 
ATTORNEY AT LAW 
8702 Jefferson Hwy., Suite B. 
Baton Rouge, La. 70809 
telephone: (225)766-0014 
facsimile: (225)924-7480 
email: fred@crifasilaw.com 
website: www.crifasilaw.com 

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: The information contained In this electronic message, including any attachment hereto, is privileged and 
confidential information Intended only for the use of the individual entity or entitles named above. If you are not the Intended 

mailto:fred@crifasilaw.com


recipient, you are hereby notified that any dissemination, distribution or reproduction of this communication is strictly prohibited, if 
you have received this communication in error, please notify me immediately by electronic mail and permanently delete this 
message from your computer system. Thank you. 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

MIDDLE DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA . 

versus CRIMINAL NO. 16-

MICHAEL DAVID PITTS 

WAIVER OF INDICTMENT 

I, MICHAEL DAVID PITTS, the above-named defendant, charged in a Bill of 

Infonnation with wire fraud, a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343, 

understand; 

(a) the natui-e of the charge brought against me, and 

(b) that I am entitled, under the Fifth Amen(^entoftbe United States Constitution, 
to have the charge instituted by a Gi"and Jury Indictment. 

I voluntarily waive my right to have the charge set forth in the Bill of Information 

presented to a Grand Juiy and agree that the proceedings may be instituted by a Bill of 

Information. 

Dated this ^ day of . 2016, at Baton Rouge, Louisiana. 

MICHAECDAVS rPTTS 
DEFEj^NTT 

FRED GRlFASr 
COUNSED^R DEFENDANT 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

MmDLE DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

versus 

MICHAEL DAVID PITTS 

CRIMINAL NO. 16-

PLE A AGREEMENT 

The United States Attorney's OfiBce for the Middle District of Louisiana ("the United 

States") and MICHAEL DAVID PITTS ("the defendant'^ hei*eby enter into the following 

plea agreement pursuant to Fed. R. Crim. P. 11(c). 

A. THE DEFENDANT'S OBLIGATIONS 

1. GiiiltvPlea 

The defendant agrees to enter a plea of guilty to a Bill of Information charging him 

with Wire Fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343. 

2. Financial Information 

The defendant agi-ees to fully and truthfully complete the fmancial statement provided 

to him by the United States and to return the financial statement to the United States within 

ten days of this agreement being filed with the Court. Further, the defendant agi-ees to 

provide the United States with any information or documentation in his possession regarding 

his financial affairs and to submit to a debtor's examination upon request. Any fmancial 

information provided by the defendant may be used by the United States to collect any 
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financial obligations imposed in this prosecution and may be considered by the Coiu-t in 

imposing sentence. 

3. Waiver of Indictment 

Through this agreement, the defendant hereby waives his right under the Fifth 

Amendment of the United States Constitution to have the chai-ge contained in the Bill of 

J Information instituted by a Grand .Tury Indictment. The defendant agrees to express and 

0 execute such waiver at the arraignment and at any other point in the proceedings. The 

^ defendant understands the nature of the charge against him and agrees that the proceedings 

10 may be instituted by a Bill of Information. 

1 4. Cooperation 

The defendant hereby waives the Fifth Amendment privilege against self-

incrimination and agrees to cooperate with the United States by providing complete and 

truthful information whenever, wherever, to whomever, and in whatever form an attorney for 

the United States or federal law enforcement agent requests, including by providing oral 

answers to questions, written statements, answer's to interrogatories, testimony in court, 

testimony before a grand jury, and documents and other items. 

The defendant agrees not to disclose to anyone (other than his attorney) his 

cooperation, the existence, of any federal investigation in which he cooperates, or any 

information learned as a result of his cooperation without authority from an attorney for the 

United States or a federal law enforcement agent. 

The United States is not obligated to receive, agree to, or act upon information or 

othei' cooperation which the defendant may wish to provide. 
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Except as otherwise provided herein or in USSG § lB1.8(b), no truthful testimony or 

statements by the defendant or act of producing documents or items by the defendant 

pursuant to this agreement, or any evidence or information derived therefrom, will be used 
I 

against the defendant in the United States' case-in-chief in a ciiminai trial or in sentencing 

the defendant in this case, except to advise the Comt of the extent and value of the 

defendant's cooperation or to support a motion under USSG § 5K1.1 or Fed. R. Grim. P. 35. 

The United States may use all statements made by the defendant and the defendant's act of 

producing documents or items, and any evidence or information derived therefrom, in any 

other manner, including as follows; in rebuttal at any a-iminal trial, to cross examine the 

defendant in any trial or proceeding, in forfeitm-e proceedings, evidentiary hearings, or civil 

or administrative hearings, and in its case-in-chief in any prosecution for perjury, making 

false statements or declar-ations, or obstruction of justice committed on or after the effective 

date of this agreement. 

B. tiNiTED STATTES' OBUGATIONS 

1. Nonriprosecution of Charges 

The United States agrees that, if the Couri accepts the defendant's guilty plea, it will 

not prosecute the defendant for any offenses r-elated to'the offense charged in the Bill of 

Information. 
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2. Mbtioii for Third Point for Acceptance of Resnonsibilitv 

The United States acknowledges that the defendant has assisted authorities in the, 

investigation-or prosecution of the defendant's own misconduct by timely notifying 

authorities of his intention to enter a plea of guilty, thereby permitting the United States to 

avoid preparing for trial and permitting the United States and the Comt to allocate their 

1 resources efficiently. The United States therefore agrees that, if the Court finds that the 

defendant qualifies for a two-level decrease in offense level for acceptance of responsibility 

4 
4 under USSG § 3El.l(a) and, prior to the operation of USSG § 3El.l(a), the defendant's 
4 . 
© offense level is 16 or greater, the United States will move the Court pursuant to USSG § 

j 3E1.1 (b) to decrease the defendant's offense level by one additional leyel. The United States 

reserves the. right to object to a decrease in offense level for acceptance of responsibility 

based on information received by the United States after the effective date of this agi-eement, 

including information that the defendant failed to timely submit the financial statement 

required by Section A(2) of this agreement. 

3. AdvisinaCourtof Cboperatioh 

The United States agrees to inform the Court at or before sentencing of the extent and 

value of any cooperation by the defendant pursuant to this agreement, regardless of whether 

such cooperation constitutes "substantial ^lssistance" within the meaning of USSG § SKl.l. 

The evaluation of whether and to what extent the defendant has cooperated with the United 

States, and the value of any cooperation, shall be solely vrithin the discretion of the United 

States. The United States is not obligated to file any motion with the Court based on the 

defendant's cooperation, including any motion under USSG § 5K1.1 or Fed. R. Crim. P. 35. 
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If a motion is filed, the Court, in its sole discretion, may or may not grant a departure from 

the United States Sentencing Guidelines or reduce the Sentence after its imposition. j 

C. SENTENCING ! 
i 

1. Maximum. Statutoi-y. Penalties. ; 

The maximum possible penalty is a tenn of imprisonment of 20 years, a fine of up to ; 
I 

$250,000 or twice the gross gain or twice the gi'oss loss, whichever is greater, and a term of 

supervised release of three yeai-s. 

In addition to the above, the Couit must impose a special assessment of $100 pei* 

count which is due at the time of sentencing. The Court may also order restitution. 

2. Supervised Release 

Supervised release is. a period following release fi:om imprisonment duiing which the 

defendant's conduct is monitored by the Couit and the United States Probation Office and 

during which the defendant must comply with certain conditions. Supervised release is 
i 

imposed in addition to a sentence of imprisonment, and a violation of the conditions of ; 

supervised release can subject the defendant to irnprisonment over and above any period of , \ 

imprisomnent initially ordered by the Court for a term of up to two years, without credit for 

any time already served on the term of supervised release. 

3. Sentencing-Guidellnes 

The Court will determine in its sole discretion what the defendant's sentence will be. j 

While the Court must consider the United States Sentencing Guidelines in imposing • 

sentence, the Sentencing Guidelines are not binding" on the .Court. The Court could impose 
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any sentence up to the maximum possible penalty as set out above despite any lesser or 

greater sentencing range provided for by the Sentencing Guidelines. 

4. Agreement Regarding Sentencing 

The defendant and the United States agree, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3663(a)(3), that 

the Court shall not be limited to the count of conviction for puiposes of ordering restitution. 

As a condition of this plea agreement, the defendant agrees that the Court will order full 

restitution to Amedisys in the amount of $7,641,528. Otheiwise, except as set forth in this 

agreement, the United States malces no promises, representations, or agi'eements regarding 

sentencing. In particulai-, the United States reserves the right to present any evidence and 

information to the Court and the United States Probation Office regarding sentencing. 

5. Forfeiture 

The defendant agrees to forfeit any property constituting, or derived from, proceeds 

he obtained duectly, or indirectly, as a result of the offense chai*ged in the Bill of 

Information. The defendant admits that the amount of the proceeds derived from the offense 

was $7,641,528. He therefore agrees to forfeit to the United States a sum of money equal to 

$7,641,528 in United States currency and consents to entry of a personal money judgment 

against him in such amount. 

The defendant understands that forfeiture of his property, including by payment of a 

money judgment, will not be treated as satisfaction of any fine, restitution, cost of 

imprisonment, or other penalty which may be imposed upon him as part of his sentence. The 

defendant further understands that, separate and apart from his sentence in this case, the 
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United States may also institute civil or administrative forfeiture proceedings of any 

property, real or personal, which is subject to forfeiture. 

The defendant agrees to fully and truthfully disclose the existence, nature, and 

location of all assets and to fully and completely assist the United States in the recovery and 

forfeiture of all forfeitable assets, including taking all steps as requested by the United States 

I to pass clear title to forfeitable assets to the United States. The defendant agi-ees to hold the 

^ United States, its agents, and its employees hannless from any claims whatsoever in 

connection with the seizure or forfeiture of propeity pursuant to the Court's forfeiture orders. 
4 
Q The defendant hereby waives the following: (1) all statutory and constitutional 

'I' defenses to the forfeiture, including any claim that the forfeiture constitutes an excessive fme 

or punishment; (2) any failure by the Court to ensure at sentencing that the defendant is 

aware of the forfeiture or to incorporate the forfeiture in the judgment as required by Fed. R. 

Crun. P. 32.2(b)(4)(B); and (3) any failure by the Court to inform the defendant of, and 

determine that the defendant understands, the applicable forfeiture prior to accepting the 

defendant's plea. 

D. FACTUAL BASIS 

The United States and the defendant stipulate to the following facts: 

On March 5,2012, Michael David Pitts caused Amedisys to purchase false and 
fictitious tax credits valued at $222,500. The payment was executed by an interstate wire 
transfer initiated in Baton Rouge and concluded at banlcs outside the State of Louisiana. 

Michael David Pitts ("Pitts'') was. employed at A,medisys, Itic. C'Amedisys") on 
January 17,200'5' and continued such employment until July 31,2014. Pitts was initially 
hired as the Amedisys Tax Director, and in 2006, assumed the title, role, and 
responsibilities of Vice-President of Tax C'Tax-VP"). As the Tax-VP, he was responsible 
for all Amedisys tax matteia, includirig the preparation of state aiid-federal tax returns and 
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the payment of state income taxes in the vaiious states where Amedisys operated its 
business. Pitts was afforded a degree of operational autonomy. 

As the Tax-VP, Pitts was encouraged to identify means of reducing Amedisys' 
tax liabilities. In order to reduce the Amedisys tax liabilities in the States of Louisiana, 
Georgia, Michigan, and Oklahoma, Pitts purchased tax credits in each of tliese States. 

On behalf of Amedisys, Pitts purchased various state tax credits from Stonehenge 
Capital Company, LLC through a subsidiary known as Stonehenge Entertainment, LLC 
("Stonehenge Capital—Stonehenge Entertainment"), a local broker who bought and sold 
tax credits. Specifically, Pitts purchased Georgia film tax credits, Louisiana franchise tax 
credits, and Louisiana new market tax credits. The state tax credits.were applied, and 
used, to reduce Amedisys' Georgia and Louisiana income tax liabilities. 

.4 The Scheme To Defraud 

Pitts created a knockoff company known as "Stonehenge Entertainment," a name 
nearly identical to the legitimate enterprise Icnown as Stonehenge Capital—Stonehenge 
Entertaimnent. Pitts solely controlled and benefitted from Stonehenge Entertainment. 
Pitts' Stonehenge Entertainment maintained an account #5757 at Capital One Bank, N.A. 
The name was chosen because of its close similarity to the legitimate company known as 
Stonehenge Capital—Stonehenge Entertainment. The real Stonehenge Capital— 
Stonehenge Entertainment maintained account #8843 at National-City Banlc in Cleveland, 
Ohio and #0275 at JP Morgan Chase Banlc. 

Pitts used tire knockoff company to defr-aud Amedisys; in short, Pitts created false 
tax credits in the name of the knockoff company and then caused Amedisys to pay his 
Icnockoff company for the purchase of the fictitious tax credits. Pitts used the fi-aud 
proceeds for his personal enrichment. 

The use of the knockoff company name avoided detection of the frraud. 

Additionally, Pitts created another company Icnown as Evergreen Incentives, LLC 
("Ever-green Incentives"), which company he also utilized to cany out his scheme to 
defr-aud. 6vergr-een Incentives maintained an account #9952 at Regions Bardc. 

In order to car-ry out the scheme to defraud, Pitts created false and fictitious "Tax 
Credit Transfer Agreements." To execute his scheme, Pitts created and submitted 
"Requests for Payment," which sought corporate approval to buy the false and fictitious 
tax credits, and "Requests for Wire Payment," which achieved the objective of diverting 
Amedisys funds for his personal enrichment. 

The Tax Ci-edit Transfer Agreements falsely represented that Amedisys had 
purchased tax credits issued by the States of Louisiana, Georgia, California, Oldahoma, 
and Michigan. 
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Pitts submitted the Requests for Payment to corporate officers for approval. 
Because Pitts enjoyed the status and respect of VP-Tax for Aihedisys, corporate officers 
routinely approved the tax credit purchases submitted by Pitts. ' 

, t-

The Requests for Wire Payment were the actual wire transfer instructions which 
Pitts gave to Amedisys staff in order to pay for tlie pm-chase of the bogus tax credits. 
Pitts directed the proceeds of the fraud into banlc accounts which he controlled at Capital 
One (Stonehenge Entertainment) and Regions Bank (Evergreeil Incentives). 

Use of Interstate Wire Communications 

In order to divert Amedisys funds to his personal enjoyment, Pitts caused 
accoimts payable personnel to wire Amedisys fhnds into his knockoff Stonehenge 
Entertainment account #5757 at Capital One Bank and his Evergreen Incentives account 
#9952 at Regions. On 21 occasions, wire transfers were initiated using computers and 
servers located m the Middle District of Louisiana and routed to bank sei-vers located 
outside the State of Louisiana. 

> • 
Execution of Scheme 

In or about March 2012, Pitts caused Amedisys to purchase Oklahoma tax credits 
from Evergreen Incentives. According to the "Oklahoma Tax Credit Purchase 
Agreement ("OK Purchase Agreement")," Amedisys bought $250,000 of 2011 film tax 
credits from Evergreen Incentives for the amount of $222,500. Pitts signed the OK 
Purchase Agreement on behalf of Amedisys and submitted the proposed Purchase 
Agi'eement to Amedisys's corporate officers for approval, including the Senior Vice 
President and the Chief Executive Officer. Relying upon the representations of Pitts, 
each executive sqiproved of the purchase as proposed, unaware that the tax credits were a 
sham transaction created by Pitts for his personal enrichment 

On or about March 5,2012, Pitts submitted a "Request for Wire Payment" to the 
accounts payable personnel of Amedisys. As requested, Amedisys A/P personnel located 
in Baton Rouge initiated a wire transfer from Amedisys's JPMorgan Chase Bank 
("Chase") account. The Maroh 5,2012 wire transaction transferred $222,500 from 
Amedisys's Chase general ledger* cash account to Pitts' Evergreen account #9952 at 
Regions Bank. Regions Bank wire transfer processing operations, and its servers, wer e 
located outside the State of Louisiana. 

Amedisys paid Pitts' companies $7,641,528 for the purchase of fictitious tax • 
credits. Pitts used the funds to purchase land, homes, and commercial property, as well 
as pay off mortgages, credit card debts, and school loans. An unknown amount of the 
proceeds were spent on gambling activities. 

The defendant admits that, to the best of his knowledge and belief, the stipulated statement of 

facts is ti*ue and correct in all respects. The United States and the defendant agree that, had 
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this matter gone to trial, the United States could have proved such facts. The United States 
t 

and the defendant further agree that such facts are sufficient to support conviction of the 

offense to which the defendant has agi-eed to plead guilty. The defendant understands that, 

by the terms, of USSG § 6B1.4, the Court is not limited by the stipulated facts for purposes of 

sentencing. Rather, in determining'the factual basis for the sentence, the Couit will consider 

the stipulation, together with the results of the presentence investigation and any other 

relevant information. 

E. BREACH AND ITS CONSEQUENCES 

1. Conduct Constituting Breach 

Any of the following actions by the defendant constitutes a material breach of this 

agreement: 

a. failing to plead guilty to the .Bill of Information at arraignment; 

•b. representing,, directly or thi-o.ugh counsel, to the Uriiled S.tafes or the 
Court that he will not plead guilty to the Bill of Infontiation; 

c. moving to withdraw his guilty plea; 

d. filing an appeal or instituting otlier post-conviction proceedings' 
not authorized in Section F(2); 

e. disputing or denyingguilt of the offense to whicli the defendant has 
agreed to plead guilty or denying or disputing any fact contained in the 
stipulated factual basis; 

f. failing or refusing to waive indictment in open court at arraignment; 

g. concealing or disposing of assets with the specific intent of shielding 
such assets from forfeiture; 

h. refusing to provide information or testimony; 
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i-. disclosing, without authority, his cooperation, the existence of 

any federal investigation in which he cooperates, or any 
information learned as a result of his cooperation; 

j. providing false, misleading, or incomplete information or 
testimony, including financial information and testimony 
provided pursuant to Section A(2), to the United States; or 

k. violating the terms of this agreement in any other manner. 

I 2. Consequences of Breach 
3 
0 In the event of a breach by the defendant, the United States is relieved of its 

^ obligations under the agreement. In particular, the United States may prosecute the 

4 defendant for any criminal offense. In addition, any statements and information provided by 

the defendant pursuant to tliis agreement or otherwise, and any information and evidence 

derived therefrom, may be .used against the defendant in this or any other prosecution or 

proceeding without limitation. Such statements and information include, but are not limited 

to, the plea agi-eement itself (including the factual basis contained in Section D), statements 

made to law enforcement agents or prosecutors, testimony before a grand jury or other 

tribunal, statements made pui'suant to a proffer agreement, statements made in the course of 

any proceedings under Rule 11, Fed. R. Grim. P. (including the defendant's entry of the 

guilty plea), and statements made in the course of plea discussions. The defendant expressly 

and voluntarily waives the protection afforded by Fed. R. Evid. 410 as to any statements 

made by him personally (but not as to statements made by his counsel). The defendant is not 

entitled to withdraw his guilty plea. 
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3. Procedure, for Eistablishing Breach 

The United States wiJl provide written notice to the defendant or his attorney if it 

intends to be relieved of its obligations under the agreement as a result of a breach by the 

defendant. After providing such notice, the United States may institute or proceed with any 

charges against the defendant prior to any judicial determination regarding breach. However, 

the United States will obtain a judicial determination regarding breach prior to using 

statements and information provided by the defendant or any act of producing documents or 

items by the defendant .pursuant to this agreement, or any evidence or information derived 

therefrom, in its case-in-chief in a criminal trial or in sentencing the defendant in this case. 

The standard of proof in any proceeding to determine whether the plea agreement has been 

breached is preponderance of the evidence. To prove a breach, the United States may use (1) 

any and all statements of the defendant, (2) any and all statements of his counsel to the Court 

(including the United States Probation Office), and (3) any representation by defense counsel 

to the United States that the defendant will not plead guilty. 

F. WAIVERS BY THE DEFENDANT 

1. Waiver of Trial Rights 

By pleading guilty, the defendant waives the right to plead not guilty or to persist in a 

not guilty plea and waives the right to a jury trial. At a trial, the defendant would have the 

trial rights to be represented by counsel, to confront and examine adverse witnesses, to be 

protected against compelled self-incrimination, to testify and present evidence, to compel the 

attendance of witnesses, and to have the jury instructed that the defendant is presumed 

innocent and the burden is on the United States to prove the defendant's guilt beyond a. 
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reasonable doubt. By waiving his right to a trial and pleading guilty, the defendant is 

waiving these trial rights. 

2. Waiver of Anneal and: Colla teral Remedies 

Except as otherwise provided in this section, the defendant hereby expressly waives 

the right to appeal his conviction and sentence, including any appeal right conferred by 28 

U.S.C. § 1291 and 18 U.S.C. § 3742, and to challenge the conviction and sentence in any 
* 

post-conviction proceeding, including a proceeding under 28 U.S.C. § 2241,28 U.S.C. § 

2255, or 18 U.S.C. § 3582(c)(2). This waiver applies to any challenge on appeal or in any 

post-conviction proceeding to any aspect of the defendant's sentence, including 
i 

imprisonment, fine, special assessment, restitution, forfeiture or the length and conditions of I 

supervised release or probation. The defendant, however, reserves the right to appeal the 

following: (a) any sentence which is in excess of the statutory maximum; (b) any sentence ' 

which is an upward departure pursuant to Uie Sentencing Guidelines; and (c) any non-

Guidelines sentence or "variance" which is above die guidelines range calculated by the i 
i 

Court. Notwithstanding this waiver of appeal and collateral remedies, the defendant may 

bring any claim of ineffectiveness of counsel. • 

3. Waiver of Statute. of Limitations 

The defendant hereby waives all defenses based on the applicable statutes of 

limitation as to the offense charged in the Bill of Information and all offenses that the United 

States has agreed not to prosecute, as long as such offenses are not time-barred on the j 

effective date of this agreement. The defendant likewise waives any common law, equitable, 

or constitutional claim of pre-indictment delay as to such offenses, as long as such offenses j 
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are not time-ban*ed on the effective date of this agreement. The vi'aivers contained in this 

pai'agraph will expire one year after the date of any of the following: (1) a judicial finding 

that defendant has breached the plea agreement; (2) the withdrawal of any plea entered 

pursuant to tliis plea agreement; or (3) the vacating of any conviction resulting from a guilty 

plea pursuant to this plea agreement. 

I 4. Waiver of'SpeedV Trial Etights 

0 The defendant hereby waives any common law, equitable, or constitutional claim [ 

^ regai'ding post-indictment delay as to the offense charged in the Bill of Information. The 
4 • . ' 
i0 waiver contained in this paragraph will expire one yeai- after the date of any of the following: , 

1 ^ (1) a Judicial findinig that defendant has breached the plea agz*eement; (2) the withdrawal of 

any plea entered pursuant to this plea agreement; or (3) the vacating of aiiy conviction 

resulting from a guilty plea pursuant to this plea agi-eement. 

G. EFFECT OF AGREEMENT 

1. Effective Date 

This agreement is not binding on any party until signed by the defendant, defendant's 

counsel, and an attorney for the Uruted States. Once signed by the defendant, his counsel, 

and an attorney for the United States, the agreement is binding on the defendant and the 
% 

United States. 

2. Effect on Other Ajgi eements 

This agreement supersedes any prior agreements, promises, or understanings 

between the parties, written or oral, including any proffer agreement. 
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3. Effect on Other Authorities 

The agreement does not bind any federal, state, or local prosecuting authority other 

than the United States Attorney's Office for the Middle District of Louisiana. 

4. iEffect of Reiection by Court •» 
Pursuant to Fed. R. Crim. P. II, the Court inay accept or reject this plea agi'eement. 

If the Court rejects the plea agreement, the plea agreement is no longer binding on the parties 
*x 

and is not binding on the Court. If the Court rejects the plea agreement, the defendant will be 

given the opportunity to withdraw his plea and such withdrawal will not constitute a breach 

of the agreement. If the defendant does not withdraw his plea following rejection of the plea 

agreement, the disposition of the case may be less favorable to the defendant than 

contemplated by the plea agreement 

H. 

1. Bv The Defehdaiit 

I, MICHAEL DAVID PITTS, have read this .plea agreement and have discussed it 

with my attorney. I fully understand the agreement and enter into it Icnowingly, voluntarily, 

and without reservation. I have not been threatened, intimidated, pressured, or coerced in 

any manner. I am not under the influence of any substance or circumstance that could 

impede my ability to understand the agreement and its consequences. 

I affirm that absolutely no promises, agreements, understandings, or conditions have 

been made, agreed to, or imposed by the United States in connection with my decision to 

plead guilty except those set forth in this agreement. 
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I acknowledge that no promises or assurances have been made to me by anyone as to 

what my sentence will be. I undei-stand that representations by my attorney (or anyone else) 

regarding application of the Sentencing Guidelines and/or my possible sentence are merely 

estimates and are not binding on the Court. 

I have read the Bill of Infoimation and have discussed it with my attorney. I fully 

understand the nature of the charge. I understand that I am entitled, under the Fifth 

Amendment of the United States Constitution, to have the chai'ge instituted by a Gi'and Jury 

Indictment. 

I have accepted this plea agreement and agreed to plead guilty because I am in fact 

guilty of the offense charged in the Bill of Information. 

I am satisfied with the legal semces provided by my attorney and have no objection 

to the legal represeift^mi^»jj?Te.ce,iyed. 

. DATE: 3/^'// 2.»/6 
MICHAEL DAVID PITTS 
Defendant 

. 
2. By Defense Counsiel 

I have read this plea agreement and have discussed it with my client, MICHAEL 

DAVID PITTS, who is the defendant in this matter. I am satisfied that the defendant 

understands the agreement and is entering into it knowingly and voluntarily. The agreement 

accurately and fepnjpletely sets forth the entire agreement between the .defendant and the 

United Isr J 

DATE: 
Fred Crii^ 
Counsel for i 
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3. By the United States 

We accept and agree to this plea agreement on behalf of the United States. The 

agreement accurately and completely sets forth the entire agreement between the defendant 

and the United States. 

DATE; 
J. Waiter Green 
United States / 
Middle District of Louisiana 

DATE: 
Rene I. Salomon ' 
Assistant United States Attorney 
Middle District of Louisiana 
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